Case No. S274147

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

DAVID MEINHARDT,

Petitioner and Appellant,

vs.

CITY OF SUNNYVALE, SUNNYVALE PERSONNEL BOARD,

Respondent,

SUNNYVALE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY,

Real Party in Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth District, Division One
Court of Appeal Case No. D079451
Dismissing an Appeal of a Judgment Entered in
the Superior Court of Santa Clara County
Superior Court Case No. 19CV346911
Hon. Peter Kirwan

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF
ON THE MERITS**

KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP

*Michael Shipley (SBN 233674)
mshipley@kirkland.com
Nathaniel Haas (SBN 324305)
nathaniel.haas@kirkland.com
555 S. Flower Street
Los Angeles, CA 90071

QUESTION PRESENTED

The Court granted review to answer this question: “Did the Court of Appeal correctly dismiss the appeal as untimely?” Specifically, the Court of Appeal here held that the time to take an appeal under Rule 8.104(a)(1)(A) of the Rules of Court ran from the time the trial court entered an order denying Petitioner David Meinhardt’s petition for a writ of administrative mandate on the merits. It reached that result even though the trial court subsequently entered a separate final judgment, which had been jointly submitted by the parties, finally adjudicating the claim. Officer Meinhardt filed his notice of appeal within sixty days of the notice of entry of the judgment but the Court of Appeal nonetheless dismissed the appeal as untimely because Officer Meinhardt filed his notice more than sixty days after notice of entry of the trial court’s order denying the petition.

This Court has held, in myriad contexts, that the time to appeal runs from the entry of *a separate final judgment*, not from some prior *order* setting out the trial court’s reasons for making a final decision disposing of a civil action. (See *Alan v. American Honda Motor Co.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 894, 901 (*Alan*) [decision on court trial]; *Molien v. Kaiser Foundation Hospitals* (1980) 27 Cal.3d 916, 920–21 (*Molien*) [demurrer]; *Sullivan v. Delta Air Lines, Inc.* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 288, 307 fn.10 (1997) (*Sullivan*) [summary judgment].) As the Court explained in *Alan*, “the desire to cut off a litigant’s right to appeal cannot justify creating an exception to the general rule.” (*Alan, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 901.) This case presents the question of whether the Court of Appeal correctly

determined that an exception nevertheless applies in administrative mandate appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I.

Officer David Meinhardt Unsuccessfully Challenges a Disciplinary Decision in a Petition for Administrative Mandate, and Appeals.

David Meinhardt was and is an officer in the Sunnyvale Department of Public Safety. (See AA000008.) Acting as a union official, he criticized decisions by the department's Director, for which he was rewarded with a disciplinary suspension without pay. (AA000010–11.) He unsuccessfully challenged the suspension as retaliatory with the City of Sunnyvale's Personnel Board. (AA000011–12.)

On May 3, 2019, Officer Meinhardt filed a petition for administrative mandate. (AA000007.) The petition alleged that the suspension was retaliatory and in violation of his constitutional and statutory rights to free speech. (*Ibid.*) The superior court denied Officer Meinhardt's petition in a signed, file-stamped order on August 6, 2020. (AA000111–17.) The clerk served a file-stamped copy of the order on both parties the same day. (AA000120–29.)

On September 4, 2020, the parties jointly submitted a proposed final judgment, which the superior court signed on September 17, 2020. (AA000133–34.) Officer Meinhardt served a notice of entry of the judgment on September 22, 2020. (AA000131.) The superior court entered the judgment on its docket on September

25, 2020.¹ (AA000144 [date of filestamp] ; see also AA000167 [register of actions].) On October 15, 2020—20 days after the docketing of the judgment and 23 days after service of notice of entry—Officer Meinhardt filed and served his notice of appeal. (AA000155–56.)

II. The Court of Appeal Dismisses Officer Meinhardt’s Appeal as Untimely.

After the appeal was fully briefed, this Court ordered the appeal transferred from the Court of Appeal’s Sixth District to the Fourth District, Division One. (Case No. D079451, docket entry dated Sept. 9, 2021, *available at* <https://tinyurl.com/5n85wwtz>.) On October 28, 2021, the Court of Appeal requested supplemental briefing on the timeliness of the appeal, particularly in light of its recent decision in *City of Calexico v. Bergeson* (2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 180 (*City of Calexico*). (*Id.*, docket entry Dated Oct. 28 2021.) After oral argument, the Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal as untimely in a published decision. (Slip Op. at p. 33.)

Relying primarily on *City of Calexico, supra*, 64 Cal.App.5th at p. 190 and *Laraway v. Pasadena Unified School Dist.* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 579, 583 (*Laraway*), the Court of Appeal held the August 6, 2020 order denying the petition for writ of administrative

¹ It is curious that Officer Meinhardt gave notice of entry of the judgment before it was entered on the docket. But the explanation is mundane. After the judgment was signed—on September 17—but before it was entered—on September 25—the superior court clerk provided Officer Meinhardt’s trial counsel with a copy. Counsel promptly filed and served a Notice of Entry on September 22.

mandate was itself a “final determination of the rights of the parties” and thus constituted an appealable “final judgment” under Code of Civil Procedure section 1064. (Slip Op. at pp. 10–24.) The Court of Appeal held that the trial court’s subsequent entry of “the September 25 document styled as a ‘judgment’ that merely reiterated the rulings contained in the court’s August 6 ruling” was “irrelevant” and did not restart the time to appeal. (*Id.* at p. 23.)

The Court of Appeal believed its analysis was bolstered by language from this Court’s decision in *Dhillon v. John Muir Health* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1109 (*Dhillon*). *Dhillon* held that a trial court’s decision to grant a writ of administrative mandate and remand of the matter back to an administrative body was sufficiently final to be appealable. (*Id.* at p. 1112.) That is the case because such a result “terminates the litigation between the parties on the merits of the case and leaves nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined.” (*Id.* at p. 1115.) *Dhillon* did not address the question presented here—whether a sufficiently final *order* counts as a *judgment* in an administrative mandate case when formal judgment is subsequently entered. But the Court of Appeal read *Dhillon* as holding that the *order* itself must be the appealable event. (Slip Op. at pp. 12–15.)

The Court of Appeal did, however, recognize that another line of cases stood for the proposition that an appeal in an administrative mandate action is appropriately taken from (and its timeliness determined by) a separately entered formal final judgment. Under these cases, that is the case even if some prior order had

effectively resolved the petition on the merits, because the separately entered judgment itself was the appealable event. (See *Protect Our Water v. County of Merced* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 362, 368 fn. 2 (*Protect Our Water*); see also *MCM Construction, Inc. v. City and County of S.F.* (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 359, 367, fn. 3 (*MCM*); *Catalina Inv., Inc. v. Jones* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1, 5, fn. 3 (*Catalina*); and *Hadley v. Superior Court* (1972) 29 Cal.App.3d 389, 393 (*Hadley*)). The Court of Appeal declined to follow these cases, however, because it found their analyses “cursory” and that they were distinguishable on various factual and procedural grounds. (Slip Op. at pp. 28–31.) It instead followed *Laraway* and *City of Callexico* and held that the order denying Officer Meinhardt’s petition was the appealable final judgment. (*Id.* at pp. 31–33.) It dismissed his appeal—timely taken from the later-entered formal judgment—as untimely. (*Id.* at 34.)

* * *

On April 18, 2022, Officer Meinhardt filed a Petition for Review with this Court. On June 15, 2022, the Court, by unanimous vote of six Justices with Justice Guerrero recused, granted review on the question: “Did the Court of Appeal correctly dismiss the appeal as untimely?”

ARGUMENT

In California, a civil action concludes with the trial court entering a separate formal decree that finally adjudicates the rights of the parties. That document—“the final determination of the rights of the parties” in the action or proceeding, (Code Civ. Proc., §§ 577, 1064)—is the appealable “judgment” for the purposes of Code of Civil Procedure § 904.1 and Rule of Court 8.104.² As the Court explained in *Alan v. American Honda Motor Co.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 894, that is the case, even when some prior reasoned order effectively resolves all the open issues. “[A] statement of decision is not treated as appealable when a formal order or judgment does follow[.]” (*Id.* at p. 901.) Indeed, “the desire to cut off a litigant’s right to appeal cannot justify creating an exception to the general rule.” (*Ibid.*)

There are accordingly two fundamental aspects of an appealable final judgment in a civil case in California: It must be both: (1) final; and (2) separately entered. Although this Court has exercised its discretion to the second element when equitably necessary to preserve the right of appeal, (*Id.* at p. 901), it has *never* adopted the converse rule: that a sufficiently final order *is* an appealable judgement, such that a later, separately entered, judgment is “irrelevant”—in essence, a nullity, as the Court of Appeal did here. There is nothing about about administrative mandate procedure that merits a departure from the longstanding practice requiring entry of a separate judgment. The Court of Appeal accordingly

² Further citations to undesignated “§” are to the Code of Civil Procedure and to “Rules” are to the Rules of Court.

erred when it relied on such a rule to dismiss Officer Meinhardt’s appeal.

I.

Appealability Requires Entry of a Separate and Final Judgment, Even After an Order that Satisfies the Finality Requirement.

“The one final judgment rule is a fundamental principle of appellate practice.” (*In re Baycol Cases I & II* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 751, 756, cleaned up.) “[B]right lines are essential in this area, to avoid both inadvertent forfeiture of the right to appeal and excessive protective appeals by parties afraid they might suffer such a forfeiture.” (*Id.* at p. 761 fn. 3, quoting *Kinoshita v. Horio* (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 959, 962–63 (*Kinoshita*)). In matters of appealability, “[a] definite rule is necessary to reduce both the temptation to file dilatory appeals and the compulsion to file protective ones.” (*Kinoshita, supra*, 186 Cal.App.3d at p. 968.)

The Code of Civil Procedure permits a civil appeal to be taken from any of fourteen enumerated instruments. (§ 904.1.) The first such instrument, with exceptions not relevant here, is “a judgment, except an interlocutory judgement. . . .” (*Id.*, subd. (a)(1).) In both civil actions and special proceedings (such as proceedings in mandate) a judgment is defined as “the final determination of the rights of the parties[.]” (§§ 577 [civil action]; 1064 [special proceeding].) “As a general rule, a litigant may appeal an adverse ruling only after the trial court renders a final judgment. This general rule applies equally in administrative mandamus proceedings.” (*Dhillon, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1115.)

The Court of Appeal here concluded that “a trial court’s complete denial of a petition for administrative mandamus *is* a final judgment that may be appealed by the petitioner.” (Slip Op. at p. 2, italics added, citing *Dhillon, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1113.) The Court so concluded because the superior court’s order denying Officer Meinhardt’s writ petition “completely resolved all issues between all parties,” (Slip Op. at pp. 4, 18, citing *Laraway, supra*, 98 Cal.App.4th at pp. 582–83.) That is, in the Court of Appeal’s view, the order was sufficiently final to satisfy the finality requirements set out in cases like *Dhillon*.

But the finality of a decision is not and cannot be the *only* hallmark of a final judgment. In myriad civil contexts, courts issue orders that completely resolve all the issues in an action. But it is invariably the entry of a separate final and formal judgment that starts the clock to appeal, not the entry of some prior order, however dispositive it may be.

For example, an order granting a demurrer as to all causes of action without leave to amend indisputably meets the Court of Appeal’s finality standard—it completely and finally resolves all issues between all parties. (Accord *Dhillon, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1115.) Yet, “such an order is neither appealable per se nor as a final judgment.” (*Molien, supra*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 920; see also *Beazell v. Schrader* (1962) 205 Cal.App.2d 673, 674 [collecting cases].) “The normal method of resolving such issues in favor of a defendant is by ruling upon a demurrer and thereafter rendering a judgment based upon the ruling.” (*Lavine v. Jessup* (1957) 48 Cal.2d 611, 614.) Any “appeal must be taken from the ensuing judgment.”

(*Ibid.*) Absent the separate entry of a judgment, an order granting a demurrer is not appealable, even when it otherwise meets the finality standard set out in *Dhillon* and adopted by the Court of Appeal here. (See also *Vibert v. Berger* (1966) 64 Cal.2d 65, 68; *Berri v. Superior Court* (1955) 43 Cal.2d 856, 860.)

So too for summary judgment proceedings. An order granting a summary judgment satisfies the Court of Appeal's finality standard because it resolves the entire action. (See *Hypertouch, Inc. v. ValueClick, Inc.* (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 805, 834 ["A summary judgment may be granted only where it is shown that the entire 'action' 'has no merit,'" quoting § 437c, subd. (a)].) But although a "summary judgment is appealable ... an order granting summary judgment is not." (*Saben, Earlix & Associates v. Fillet* (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 1024, 1030; *Modica v. Merin* (1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 1072, 1074–75 [appeal from order granting summary judgment dismissed].) Again, appealability requires the confluence of finality and separate entry.

The same finality-plus-separate-entry rule holds true for other final dispositions as well. It applies when an order grants judgment on the pleadings. (*Varjabedian v. City of Madera* (1977) 20 Cal.3d 285, 289, fn.1.) After a final statement of decision issues in a bench trial. (*Alan, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 901.) After a jury verdict. (*Sullivan, supra*, 15 Cal.4th at p. 307, fn. 10.) When a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is granted. (*Jordan v. Talbot* (1965) 55 Cal.2d 597, 602.) And when a motion for new trial is denied. (*Walker v. L.A. Cnty. Metro. Transp. Auth.* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 15, 19.)

It is thus well-established that, in civil litigation in California, the “one final judgment rule” generally requires *both* finality *and* the entry of a separate formal document adjudicating the final rights of the parties in the action.

II.

The Court of Appeal Misconstrued a Discretionary Exception to the Separate Entry Requirement and Created a Rule Making Separate Entry of Judgment “Irrelevant” in Administrative Mandate Cases

Despite that a finality-plus-separate-entry rule has long been implicit in the nature a final judgment, California has also recognized a “well-established policy, based upon the remedial character of the right of appeal, of according that right in doubtful cases when such can be accomplished without doing violence to applicable rules.” (*Alan, supra* 40 Cal. 4th at p. 901, cleaned up (*Hollister*)).) Based on that policy, the Court has carved out equitable exceptions to the requirement of the entry a separate formal judgment. It has done so where a rigid adherence to the rule might otherwise result in dismissal of appeals as unperfected or waste time by sending the appellant back to await final judgment to take the same appeal.

In the application of this rule, certain sufficiently final pre-judgment orders have been “treated” as judgments by the Court to preserve the right to appeal. (*Ibid.* [“Reviewing courts have discretion to treat statements of decision as appealable when they must, as when a statement of decision is signed and filed and does, in fact, constitute the court’s final decision on the merits.”].) And in other cases where a “trial court’s rulings were not formally entered as a judgment,” sufficiently final orders have been amended to be

“converted” into judgments, in order to preserve—rather than extinguish—the right to appeal. (*Griset v. Fair Pol. Pracs. Comm’n* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 688, 694 (*Griset*) [“When, as here, a trial court’s order from which an appeal has been taken disposes of the entire action, the order may be amended so as to convert it into a judgment....” cleaned up]; see also *Sullivan, supra*, 15 Cal.4th at pp. 307–08; *Molien, supra*, 27 Cal.3d at p. 920.) It is in this context, in particular, where the adage that “[i]t is not the form of the decree but the substance and effect of the adjudication which is determinative” comes into play. (See *Griset, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 698.)³

These exceptions often apply in special proceedings that are atypical of ordinary civil actions, where a trial court might neglect to issue a formal final judgment. (See, e.g., *Dana Point Safe Harbor Collective v. Superior Court* (2010) 51 Cal.4th 1, 11 [order enforcing administrative subpoena against non-party was an appealable final judgment].) Given the parsimony of the statutes addressed to

³ The point is also sometimes invoked in the opposite situation—where a document called a judgment is not appealable because it is “interlocutory”—i.e., insufficiently final. (See, e.g., *Lyon v. Goss* (1942) 19 Cal.2d 659, 670.) But other than in the Court of Appeal’s decision—which quotes it *five* times (Slip. Op. at pp. 2, 13, 15, 22, 24 fn. 16)—the “substance over form” concept has never been employed to cut off the right to appeal taken from a separately entered judgment following an order that resolves all the issues in an action. (Accord *Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1182, 1195 [“It is axiomatic that language in a judicial opinion is to be understood in accordance with the facts and issues before the court. An opinion is not authority for propositions not considered.”].)

administrative mandate procedure and the local variety that engenders,⁴ application of exceptions to the requirement to enter a formal final judgment in administrative mandate cases is not particularly unusual. (See *Griset, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 698; *J. Arthur Properties, II, LLC v. City of San Jose* (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 480, 485 fn.2 [writ of administrative mandate; exercising discretion to treat statement of decision denying petition as appealable; citing *Alan*].) Regardless, when a final, formal judgment has been entered, *that* is the appealable event and the exceptions are unnecessary and inapplicable. (*Alan, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 901 [“[A] statement of decision is not treated as appealable when a formal order or judgment does follow, as in this case.”].)

The discretionary exceptions apply uniformly to *preserve* the right to appeal. Indeed, this Court has emphatically held that “the desire to *cut off* a litigant’s right to appeal cannot justify creating an exception to the general rule.” (*Ibid.*)

III. Contrary to the Court of Appeal’s Reasoning, the Same Finality-Plus-Separate-Entry Rule Applies in Administrative Mandate Cases

Nothing in the Code of Civil Procedure or this Court’s cases interpreting it suggests a different rule in administrative mandate

⁴ “[T]he far less developed procedures in the Code of Civil Procedure and Rules of Court for civil writs than for civil litigation generally, and the writ judges’ relative experience with writs often results in differing processes depending upon the court, and even the judge.” (Asimow, *et al.*, *California Practice Guide: Administrative Law* (2022 online ed.) § 21.22.1.)

cases. “In general, an adverse ruling in a judicial proceeding is appealable once the trial court renders a final judgment. This general rule applies equally in administrative mandamus proceedings.” (*Dhillon, supra*, 2 Cal.5th at 1115, citations omitted.)

The subdivision of the administrative mandate statute addressed to entry of judgment says, in relevant part: “The *court shall enter judgment* either commanding respondent to set aside the order or decision, or denying the writ. Where the judgment commands that the order or decision be set aside, it may order the reconsideration of the case in light of the court’s *opinion and judgment.*” (§ 1094.5, subd. (f), emphasis added.) The Legislature’s deliberate use of “shall”—language construed as mandatory, (see *Common Cause v. Bd. of Supervisors* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 432, 443 (*Common Cause*))—emphasizes the importance of a “judgment” being “entered.”

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