CASE NO. S274147

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DAVID MEINHARDT,

Petitioner and Appellant

vs.

CITY OF SUNNYVALE, SUNNYVALE PERSONNEL BOARD,

Respondent and Real Party in Interest.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT
DIVISION ONE
CIVIL No.: D079551

AFTER AN APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA CLARA COUNTY
JUDGE PETER KIRWAN
CASE NUMBER 19CV346911

RESPONDING BRIEF

Brian P. Walter, Bar No. 171429
Suzanne Solomon, Bar No. 169005
David A. Urban, Bar No. 159633
LIEBERT CASSIDY WHITMORE
6033 West Century Boulevard, 5th Floor
Los Angeles, California 90045
Email: bwalter@lcwlegal.com
ssolomon@lcwlegal.com
durban@lcwlegal.com

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT OF APPEAL HAS APPLIED A WELL-ESTABLISHED RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE IN DETERMINING THE NOTICE OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE WAS UNTIMELY

The Court of Appeal’s holding here is not a shift or departure from California precedent on what constitutes a judgment for purposes of triggering the notice of appeal deadline in a petition for writ of mandate action. Instead, the Court of Appeal’s holding that the August 6, 2020 order denying the petition for writ of mandate constituted an appealable judgment applies principles that are well-established in statute and judicial precedent.

1. Statutes and Rules of Court Regarding the Time for a Notice of Appeal in a Petition for Writ of Mandate Proceeding

California Rule of Court 8.104 provides (subject to exceptions not applicable here) that a notice of appeal has to be filed “60 days after the superior court clerk serves on the party filing the notice of appeal a document entitled ‘Notice of Entry’ of judgment or a filed-endorsed copy of the judgment, showing the date either was served” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.104(a)(1)) The parties do not dispute that if the Trial Court’s August 6, 2020 order denying the petition for writ of mandate in this case constituted a “judgment” for purposes of this rule, then Meinhardt’s appeal was untimely. The August 6, 2020 mailing of a file-stamped judgment by the Court then started the 60-day period to run under rule 8.104(a)(1)(A). Alternatively, the City’s mailing of a Notice of Entry started the 60-day period under rule 8.104(a)(1)(B).

As a threshold matter, the Code of Civil Procedure and California Rules of Court answer the question of whether the August 6, 2020 order constituted a “judgment” for purposes of the rule. For civil actions generally, the Code of Civil Procedure defines a judgment more broadly than a document that simply has that title. Instead, it describes: “A judgment is the final determination of the rights of the parties in an action or proceeding.” (Code Civ. Proc., § 577.) Part 3 of the Code of Civil Procedure which concerns “Special Proceedings,” including petitions for writ of administrative mandate under section 1094.5, defines a “judgment” as follows: “A judgment in a special proceeding is the final determination of the rights of the parties therein.” (Code Civ. Proc., § 1064.) The Code of Civil Procedure’s section discussing appeals, in Part 2 of the Code, covers appeals in both “civil actions and proceedings.” (Code Civ. Proc., § 901.) It provides: “An appeal, other than in a limited civil case, is to the court of appeal. An appeal, other than in a limited civil case, may be taken from any of the following: (1) From a judgment” (Code Civ. Proc., § 904.1 subd. (a)(1).) Read with section 1064, this means an appeal may be taken from “the final determination of the rights of the parties” in any “special proceeding” (Code Civ. Proc., § 1064), which includes a petition for writ of administrative mandate of the type at issue here. (Code Civ. Proc., § 1094.5).

Under California Rule of Court 8.104(a)(1)(A), then, the service of a file-stamped copy of the “judgment” started the 60-day time period. Indeed, provisions of the Rules of Court confirm this analysis by confirming that the definition of “judgment” for purposes of appellate rules includes any “appealable order.” California Rule of Court 8.10(4) defines a “judgment” as follows: “‘Judgment’ includes any judgment or order that

may be appealed.” Elsewhere the rules describe that the term “includes an appealable order if the appeal is from an appealable order.” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.104(e).) This Court’s analysis need proceed no further than this point. The straightforward conclusion above flows directly from application of California statutory law.

Even going beyond statutory language and the rules of court, this Court’s holding in *Dhillon v. John Muir Health* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1109, confirms that a final decision on a petition for writ of administrative mandate under Section 1094.5, that leaves nothing further for the trial court to decide, constitutes an appealable final judgment. (*Id.* at 1116-17.) This is true even where no final document titled “judgment,” or other separate document, is entered. Indeed, it appears no other document entitled judgment was ever entered in *Dhillon*.

In addition to *Dhillon*’s discussion, other California authorities use a definition of final judgment that corresponds to the statutory definition in Section 1064 of “the final determination of the rights of the parties therein.” (Code Civ. Proc., § 1064.) Authorities have articulated what constitutes an appealable judgment or order as follows: “The general test of finality focuses on whether and to what extent issues remain to be decided in the lower court case.” (Eisenberg et al., California Practice Guide: Civil Appeals and Writs (The Rutter Group 2020) (hereinafter “Civil Appeals and Writs”), ¶ 2:36.) This Court has articulated the test as follows: “[W]here no issue is left for future consideration except the fact of compliance or noncompliance with the terms of the first decree, that decree is final, but where anything further in the nature of judicial action on the part of the court is essential to a final determination of the rights of the parties, the decree is interlocutory.” (*Olson v. Cory* (1983) 35 Cal.3d 390,

399.) This Court has further explained that an order or judgment is final “when it terminates the litigation between the parties on the merits of the case and leaves nothing to be done but to enforce by execution what has been determined.” (*Sullivan v. Delta Air Lines, Inc.* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 288, 304.) This Court has described: “It is not the form of the decree but the substance and effect of the adjudication which is determinative.” (*Dana Point Safe Harbor Collective v. Superior Court* (2010) 51 Cal.4th 1, 5 [quoting *Griset v. Fair Political Practices Com.* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 688, 698]; see also Civil Appeals and Writs, ¶ 2:38 [“If it is a final judgment in legal effect, even a seemingly nonappealable ‘order’ may be an appealable final judgment.”].) These authorities are clear and dispositive. Once a party can appeal an order, including a decision on a petition for writ of mandate, the time period for the notice of appeal begins to run. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.104 (a)(1) [prescribing time limits for notice of appeal based in various forms on service or entry of “judgment”]; Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.10(4) [a judgment “includes any judgment or order that may be appealed.”]; accord *Valero Ref. Co. - California v. Bay Area Air Quality Mgmt. Dist. Hearing Bd.* (2020) 49 Cal.App.5th 618, 633 fn. 10 [“Contrary to the suggestion by the air district parties, the appealable judgment was the court's order granting a writ of mandate, not a ‘judgment’ that it subsequently entered.”].)¹

¹ The Court of Appeal here cited further authorities, including *Sandlin v. McLaughlin* (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 805, 820 [“Although the trial court never entered a formal judgment on the petition for writ of mandate, its order denying the petition in its entirety ‘constitutes a final judgment for

2. The Well-Established Rule in This Case is Explained by Numerous California Published Decisions

A line of Court of Appeal decisions stretching back many decades has faithfully applied the statutory and other authorities above to trial court denials of petitions for writ of mandate, holding that a trial court order that resolves all issues presented, and contemplates no further action by the court, constitutes a final judgment that can be appealed and that starts the time period running for a notice of appeal.

In *Laraway v. Pasadena Unified School Dist.* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 579, the petitioner sought records from a school district under the California Public Records Act, and filed a petition for writ of mandate when the petitioner received an allegedly inadequate response. (*Id.* at 580.) The trial court ruled on the petition in an August 23, 2000 order that “completely resolved all issues between all parties” and did not “contemplate nor direct the preparation of any further order or judgment.” (*Id.* at 582.) Still, the trial court later entered a “judgment” that “simply

purposes of an appeal”]; *Molloy v. Vu* (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 746, 753 [“[A]n order granting or denying a petition for an extraordinary writ constitutes a final judgment for purposes of an appeal, even if the order is not accompanied by a separate formal judgment”] [quoting *Public Defenders’ Organization v. County of Riverside* (2003) 106 Cal.App.4th 1403, 1409]; *Tomra Pacific, Inc. v. Chiang* (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 463,481–482 [“We note that the order denying the petitions for a writ of mandate is not termed a judgment and does not explicitly address the declaratory relief causes of action. Nevertheless, we are satisfied that the order before us constitutes an appealable final judgment as it left no issue for further consideration”].)

reiterated that the court had ‘ruled by Order dated August 23, 2000’ on the petition, set forth the same rulings as contained in the order denying the petition, added a provision that judgment was entered in favor of respondent and against petitioner, and awarded respondent \$0 in costs against petitioner.” (*Ibid.*)

Petitioner argued that the 60-day time period for a notice of appeal did not begin to run until this later-filed judgment was entered and served. The Court of Appeal, however, disagreed, applying the rules for finality articulated by this Court. It acknowledged that the earlier filed order operated as an appealable judgment and began the 60-day period running. The August 23, 2000 order “contemplated no further action, such as the preparation of another order or judgment [citation], and disposed of all issues between all parties.” (*Id.* at 583.) The Court of Appeal wisely reasoned that allowing a later-filed document that provided the same thing would infringe the finality rule and make little practical sense. It described:

“Once a final, appealable order or judgment has been entered, the time to appeal begins to run. The [r]ules of [c]ourt do not provide, once a judgment or appealable order has been entered, that the time to appeal can be restarted or extended by the filing of a subsequent judgment or appealable order making the same decision. Thus, once the August 23, 2000 order was entered, the time within which to file a notice of appeal therefrom began to run, and could not be restarted by the relabeling of the trial court's earlier decision and then entering such ‘judgment’ at a later date.”

(*Ibid.*)

Some two decades later, the Court of Appeal applied these principles in *City of Calexico v. Bergeson* (2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 180, determining that the trial court’s order that denied all of the parties' claims for relief in their entirety, and did not contemplate any further action in the case, constituted a separately appealable order, and thus was properly treated as a final judgment for purposes of the timing of a notice of appeal. (*Id.* at 189-92 [holding that a notice of cross-appeal was not timely, because it was filed more than the requisite time period after service of notice of entry of the order at issue].)

These citations confirm that for at least twenty years, the rule concerning the appealability of writ of mandate rulings has been part of California precedent. But the rule concerning appealability appears even earlier in published California cases. (See *Townsel v. San Diego Metropolitan Transit Development Bd.* (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 940, 944, fn. 1 [“[E]ven if a separate formal judgment has not been entered on an order denying a petition for writ of mandate, the order is properly treated as a final judgment in a special proceeding for purposes of appeal.”]; *Haight v. City of San Diego* (1991) 228 Cal.App.3d 413, 416, fn. 3 [“Even though a separate formal judgment has not been entered upon the order denying the petition for writ of mandate, such is properly treated as a final judgment in a special proceeding for purposes of appeal.”]; *Dunn v. Mun. Ct., Eureka Jud. Dist.* (1963) 220 Cal.App.2d 858, 863 fn. 1 [“An appeal lies to the District Court of Appeal from the granting or denial of relief in a proceeding in mandamus.”].)

This principle at the core of *Laraway*, *Calexico*, and this case – that a final order on a petition for writ of mandate is appealable – has been one that courts and litigants in California have essentially taken as established

without the need for comment or question. In *Griset v. Fair Political Practices Com.* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 688 699, a party challenged a political practices law by petition for writ of mandate. This Court found in the course of determining the appealability of an order: “[W]e conclude the 1991 superior court ruling . . . was a final judgment” because “the superior court's denial of plaintiffs' petition for a writ of mandate disposed of all issues in the action between plaintiffs and the [defendant].”

Similarly, in 2017 in *Dhillon, supra*, 2 Cal.5th 1109, described above, this Court considered whether a trial court's order granting, in part, a surgeon's petition for writ of administrative mandate regarding suspension of his clinical privileges and remanding the matter for further administrative proceedings was an appealable final judgment. (*Id.* at 1116.) This Court concluded that the trial court's order was an appealable final judgment because although further administrative proceedings on the merits would occur, the proceedings in the trial court had concluded. This Court reasoned that the trial court's order on the petition granted or denied each of the surgeon's claims and “did not reserve jurisdiction to consider any issues.” (*Id.* at 1116–1117.) This Court described: “once the trial court issued the writ, nothing remained to be done in that court; no issue was then left for the court's ‘future consideration except the fact of compliance or noncompliance with the terms of the first decree.’” (*Id.* at 1117 [quoting *Griset, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at 698].)

The Court of Appeal in this case simply applied these well-established principles in a straightforward way. The August 6, 2020 ruling on the petition for writ of mandate resolved all the issues between the parties and left nothing more to be determined by the trial court. (AA 0111-0118.) Accordingly, it was an appealable, final judgment, and service

of it triggered the jurisdictional 60-day period for filing a notice of appeal. (*City of Calexico, supra*, 64 Cal.App.5th at 196; *Laraway, supra*, 98 Cal.App.4th at 582.) Under California Rules of Court, rule 8.104(a)(1)(A), the 60-day period for filing a notice of appeal began August 6, 2020 and ended October 5, 2020. Meinhardt did not file his notice of appeal until 10 days later on October 15, 2020. (AA 0155.) Accordingly, the Court of Appeal properly dismissed his appeal. (See *Meinhardt, supra*, 76 Cal.App.5th at 70.)

As described above, the clear weight of authority – spanning decades – supports the position of the Court of Appeal here. A footnote in a single case, *Protect Our Water v. County of Merced* (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 362, suggests a rule contrary to *Laraway*. It does so with no supporting discussion. (*Id.* at 368 fn. 2.) The Court simply concludes: “[T]he appeal was filed within 60 days after entry of the judgment, and the judgment is appealable.” (*Ibid.*) The Court does not mention *Laraway*, or the cases that support it. (*Ibid.*) The Court of Appeal here appropriately held: “We respectfully decline to follow this footnote of *Protect Our Water* to the extent that it may be read to suggest that an order that fully resolves a petition for writ of mandate and contemplates no further action in this case is not a judgment.” (*Meinhardt, supra*, 76 Cal.App.5th at 67.) The Court of Appeal here went on to explain why the cases *Protect Our Water* referenced in support of the footnote did not support the conclusion

asserted. (*Ibid.*)²

B. THE WELL-ESTABLISHED RULE INVOKED BY THE COURT OF APPEAL HERE ADVANCES SOUND PUBLIC POLICY

The rule described in the opinions in this case, *Calexico*, *Laraway*, and others concerning the appealability of orders finally resolving petitions for writ of mandate, advances sound public policies. A rule treating those

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